

DELTA STATE UNIVERSITY

BIENNIAL CAMPUS ALCOHOL AND DRUG REPORT 2018-2022

The Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act Amendments of 1989 and the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (collectively the "Act"), require that Delta State University (DSU) maintain a program to prevent the use of illicit drugs and abuse of alcohol by faculty, staff and students.

Table of Contents

Reporting An Incident	4
Contact Information	4
Vice President for Student Affairs	4
Health & Counseling Center	4
University Police Department	4
Housing and Residence Life	4
Office of Human Resources	4
About The Report	5
Student Code of Conduct	6
General Regulations of Student Conduct and Disciplinary Sanctions	6
Standards of Conduct	6
Student Rights and Responsibilities	6
Authority	6
Drug & Alcohol Policy	7
Purpose	7
Policy	7
Alcoholic Beverages	7
Drinking Age Law, Mississippi	8
Drug-Free Schools and Campuses Act of 1989	8
Drugs	8
Drug and Alcohol Policy Infraction	9
First Offense	9
Second Offense	9
Third Offense	9
Fourth Offense	9
Offenses Disrupting Order or Disregarding Health and Safety1	.0
Legal Sanctions1	0
Sanctions1	0
Employees1	0
Students1	1
Health Risks1	1
Counseling Programs1	.1
Employees1	.1
Supervisors1	.2

Exception12
Disciplinary Responsibility for Employees12
Notification of Convictions12
Sanctions12
It's the Law13
Health Risks
Alcohol13
Marijuana13
Opioids13
Fentanyl13
Cocaine13
Over-the-counter and prescription drugs13
Club drugs14
Programs & Education14
Employees14
Substance abuse needs14
Leaves of absence
Students
Campus Based Programs and Resources14
Treatment Resources
Hotline Numbers
Campus Data
Arrests: On-Campus16
Arrests: On-Campus Residence Halls16
Disciplinary Actions: On-Campus16
Disciplinary Actions: On-Campus Residence Halls16
Crime Awareness

Reporting An Incident

All students, faculty and staff are encouraged to report incidents of alcohol and drug abuse. If you are unsure if Delta State University is aware of a potential incident regarding a violation of laws of the State of Mississippi and/or Delta State University policy, please contact the Vice President for Student Affairs, Human Resources, or University Police Department. When calling, please provide as much information as possible about the person being reported, location, time and date.

To report an incident, please complete the University Police (On Campus Assistance) report form at <u>www.deltastate.edu/students/report-concern/</u>.

Contact Information

Vice President for Student Affairs 662-846-4153 307 H.L. Nowell Union

Health & Counseling Center 662-846-4630 O.W. Reily Health Center

University Police Department 662-846-4155 108 Bailey Hall Housing and Residence Life 662-846-4151

662-846-4151 202 H.L. Nowell Union

Office of Human Resources

662-846-4035 249 Kent Wyatt Hall

About The Report

In accordance with the requirements of the Drug Free Schools and Campuses Act of 1989, institutions must publish a biennial report. The review must include a determination of the number of drug and alcohol-related violations and fatalities that occur on the institution's campus or as part of the institution's activities and number and type of sanctions imposed by the institution as a result of drug and alcohol-related violations and fatalities that occur on the institution's campus or as part of the institution's activities. Delta State University strives to maintain a safe and healthful environment for its students, faculty, and staff. High risk behaviors related to drug and alcohol abuse can lead to decreased productivity, serious health problems, strained social interactions, and impaired learning. An academic community is harmed in many ways by the abuse of alcohol and other drugs.

Delta State University recognizes students as adults, expected to obey the law and rules and regulations of the university. Students must take personal responsibility for conduct, respect the rights of others, and have regard for the preservation of state and university property. Students whose conduct threatens to cause disorder, public disturbances, danger to themselves or others, or property damage will be disciplined. Those students found responsible for violating the law or rules and regulations of the university may receive a maximum sanction of expulsion from the university.

Delta State University is committed to maintaining a drug-free workplace and workforce in conformity with federal laws as set forth in the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 and the Department of Defense (DOD) Drug-Free Workforce Rule of 1988. As a result of these laws and the policy of this institution, the campus of Delta State University is to be a drug-free workplace. Faculty and staff members are specifically prohibited from possessing, using, manufacturing, selling, distributing, or in any other way involving themselves with controlled substances both on and off campus, except as permitted in the relevant legislation.

It is important to note that illegal drug use can cause negative health effects affecting the physical, behavioral, and psychological well-being of an individual as well as the surrounding community. In addition, it can also lead to addiction for the user. Illegal drug use and alcohol abuse negatively impact the mission and goals of the University.

Although Delta State University respects the privacy rights of individuals as well as the right of an individual of legal age to partake in the consumption of alcohol, under appropriate circumstances, such rights cannot outweigh the need to maintain a safe working and learning environment.

Visit <u>www.deltastate.edu/human-resources</u> for additional information.

Student Code of Conduct

General Regulations of Student Conduct and Disciplinary Sanctions

The following is a list of rights and responsibilities of the student body of Delta State University. Also contained herein are the sanctions that can be imposed as a result of an infraction.

Standards of Conduct

All students shall be free to exercise all constitutional rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi. Nothing contained herein shall supplant, supersede, override, or infringe upon the authority of the aforementioned documents.

Student Rights and Responsibilities

Delta State University is an academic community formally opened in 1927 which strives to preserve the rights of individuals. In order to provide an atmosphere conducive to the pursuit of knowledge, basic rights and responsibilities must be understood, guaranteed, and reinforced by every member of the University community. The broad purpose of disciplinary standards is to order University living so that interests of the University community and the individual are best served. The University's responsibility extends to all students enrolled. Students apprehended and determined guilty of serious or repeated violations of University standards may receive a maximum penalty of dismissal from the University.

Visit www.deltastate.edu/students/handbook for more information on Rights & Responsibilities.

Authority

Section 615, of the Bylaws and Policies of the Board of Trustees of State Institutions of Higher Learning delegates to the President of Delta State University "full authority in all matters concerning student affairs." In accordance with this responsibility, the aim of disciplinary action is the redirection of student behavior toward the achievement of academic, community and student developmental goals. This Code of Conduct applies to all official university sanctioned activities including off campus programs. The President has delegated this function to the Vice President for Student Affairs (VPSA) or designee(s). It is the responsibility of the Vice President for Student Affairs or designee(s) to initiate, implement, and supervise the disciplinary process for students.

Delta State University recognizes students as adults who are expected to obey the law and the rules and regulations of the University, to take personal responsibility for their conduct, to respect the rights of others, and to have regard for the preservation of state and University property, as well as the private property of others. Students whose conduct, whether on or off-campus, threatens to cause disorder, public disturbances, danger to themselves or others, or property damage will be disciplined. Those apprehended and proven guilty of violating the law or rules and regulations of the University may receive a maximum sanction of expulsion from the University.

Drug & Alcohol Policy

In compliance with the Drug-Free Schools and Communities Act Amendments of 1989, Delta State University is committed to the elimination of alcohol and drug abuse.

The unlawful possession, use or distribution of illicit drugs and alcohol by its students and employees on university premises is strictly prohibited and in violation of University policy. It shall be the personal responsibility of each student, faculty and staff employee to adhere to this policy as stated. Failure to do so will result in sanctions as stipulated in this policy.

<u>Purpose</u>

To provide appropriate developmental/educational experiences for students who violate the university's policy regarding drug and alcohol and to support the sections of the Student Code of Conduct which relate to drugs and alcohol. Delta State University currently provides drug/alcohol counseling, treatment, or rehabilitation programs for students. Referral to community treatment facilities may be made in appropriate cases. For a list of drug and alcohol programs in the community, contact Health & Counseling Services.

Delta State University will impose sanctions against individuals who are determined to have violated rules prohibiting the use, possession, or distribution of illegal drugs or alcohol. Sanctions for students using or possessing illegal drugs or alcohol include disciplinary probation, and in appropriate cases, suspension from the University. The university reserves the right to contact parents of students who violate rules and regulations regarding the use, possession, or distribution of alcohol, when deemed appropriate. In addition, residence hall students will be removed from the housing system for the use or possession of illegal drugs. Referral for criminal prosecution may be made in appropriate cases.

Individuals involved in the sale or distribution of illegal drugs will be suspended from the University and referred to the appropriate authorities for criminal prosecution. All employees, including students, agree as a condition of employment to abide by this policy. Sanctions against employees for use or possession of illegal drugs or alcohol in the workplace include termination of employment. Additionally, employees are required to notify the institution of any drug convictions resulting from a violation in the workplace no later than five days of the conviction.

Policy

It is the policy of Delta State University to maintain a safe and healthful environment for its students, faculty, and staff. Therefore, the university has established policies for students concerning alcohol use on campus. It is a violation of the Delta State University Student Code of Conduct for a student to possess, consume, or sell alcohol on campus. It is incumbent on students to become knowledgeable of these policies, whether for individual decision-making or for the planning of programs and events for student organizations.

Alcoholic Beverages

- No student may consume or possess any alcoholic beverages, containers, or bottles in the residence halls, at student events in university buildings, or on any property or public location belonging to Delta State University.
- The possession, sale, distribution or furnishings of alcoholic beverages is prohibited in the residence halls, at student events in university buildings, or on any property or public location belonging to Delta State University for any student function.

- Students who behave in an intoxicated manner as a result of the use of alcohol or require staff assistance shall be subject to disciplinary action.
- The playing of games (or competitions) involving the use or consumption of alcoholic beverages is prohibited on the campus or at events sponsored or supervised by the university.
- Common source containers are prohibited in residence halls and on University owned property.
- Possession of any alcohol paraphernalia is prohibited.
- Empty alcoholic beverage containers (bottles, can, etc.) are prohibited in/on University owned or controlled property.

Drinking Age Law, Mississippi

Effective Oct. 1, 1986, it is illegal for any person under the age of 21 to possess or be sold, given, or furnished beer or light wine. This law has serious consequences for persons who provide or sell beer and light wine to individuals under 21, as well as for underage drinkers.

Drug-Free Schools and Campuses Act of 1989

Delta State University acknowledges and adheres to the laws of the state of Mississippi. The University also complies with the Drug-Free Schools and Campuses Act Amendments of 1989. In compliance with federal and state laws and the University's drug and alcohol prevention initiative, Delta State University will apply the following:

<u>Druqs</u>

- The possession of any drug controlled by federal or state laws on or off campus is prohibited.
- In compliance with state and federal law, it is illegal to possess, consume, use, or distribute (or intend to distribute or use) any drug controlled by federal or state laws on the campus of Delta State University or at events sponsored or supervised by the University.
- The manufacture, intent to manufacture, to furnish, or intent to furnish drugs controlled by federal or state law is prohibited.
- The sale, intent to sell, purchase, intent to purchase, deliver, or intent to deliver drugs controlled by federal or state law is prohibited.
- Possession or use of any drug related paraphernalia is prohibited. The University reserves the right to initiate judicial action if drug violations occur on or offcampus. Students found to be in violation of the drug policy will be subject to disciplinary action which may result in suspension or expulsion.
- Over the counter or prescription medications should not be used in any way except the manufacturer's intended purpose or as prescribed. The legal use of prescription drugs with known potential to impair personal safety must be reported immediately to Human Resources (if faculty or staff) and to the Counseling Center (if a student).
- No person may report to class, work, or related assignments "under the influence" of Controlled Substances or alcohol; and

Any violation of this policy shall constitute grounds for:

- 1. Evaluation and/or referral to treatment for drug/alcohol abuse;
- 2. Disciplinary action; and/or
 - a. For students, action may include mandatory referral to University Counseling Center for alcohol/drug dependence, letters of reprimand, or other disciplinary procedures, up to and including expulsion from the University. Such actions shall be in accordance with the applicable "Standards of Student Conduct" and University policies and procedures.

- b. For faculty and staff, action may include mandatory referral to Human Resources and/or Health Services for assessment, letters of reprimand, and/or progressive disciplinary procedures up to and including termination of employment in accordance with applicable university policies, and/or
- 3. Criminal sanction.

The complete Drug-Free Campus/Workplace Drug and Alcohol Abuse Prevention Policy is located in the University Policies and Procedures webpage and Student Code of Conduct.

Drug and Alcohol Policy Infraction

A student who is found guilty of a drug and alcohol policy infraction and/or sale and possession will receive sanctions. The student(s) or organization's status will not be cleared until all sanctions have been met. Sanctions may include but are not limited to the following:

First Offense

- Placed on an immediate Cease and Desist (when applicable) until an investigation is complete
- \$50.00 fine (individual) \$100.00 fine (organization)
- Must complete online alcohol awareness webinar/tutorial
- 10 Community service hours (assigned by the Director of Student Life)
- Must actively participate in DSU's chapter of SADD

Second Offense

- Placed on an immediate Cease and Desist (when applicable) until an investigation is complete
- \$100.00 (individual) \$200.00 fine (organization)
- Must attend counseling at Campus Counseling Center
- Must complete online alcohol awareness webinar/tutorial
- 20 Community service hours (assigned by the Director of Student Life)
- Must actively participate in DSU's chapter of SADD

Third Offense

- Placed on an immediate Cease and Desist (when applicable) until an investigation is complete
- Placed on probation for a semester. Further violation will result in immediate suspension. Organizations cannot host or participate as an organization in on or off-campus events while on probation.
- Must attend counseling at Campus Counseling Center
- \$150.00 (individual) \$300.00 fine (organization)
- Must complete online alcohol awareness webinar/tutorial
- 50 Community service hours (assigned by the Director of Student Development)
- Must actively participate in DSU's chapter of SADD

Fourth Offense

- Semester suspension
- Suspended organizations cannot host or participate as organization in on or offcampus events

Offenses Disrupting Order or Disregarding Health and Safety

- Use, possession or distribution of illegal drugs including the use of drug related paraphernalia
- Use, possession or distribution of alcoholic beverages
- Possession of firearms, explosives, ammunitions, incendiary devices, or illegal or unauthorized possession of weapons, or dangerous chemicals
- Participation in a campus demonstration which disrupts the normal operations of the University or infringes on the rights of other members of the University community
- Leading or inciting others to disrupt scheduled or normal activities within any campus building or area
- Intentional obstruction of the free flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic on University premises or University-sponsored or supervised functions
- Engaging in violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or otherwise disorderly conduct under circumstances including intoxication due to the over-consumption of alcohol, in which the conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance or disrupts the normal operations of the University
- Entering false fire alarms or bomb threats, tampering with fire extinguishers, alarms, smoke detectors or other safety equipment.
- Illegal gambling or wagering
- Violations of federal, state or local law off University premises and not related to Universitysponsored or supervised activities when the violations adversely affect the University community and/or the pursuit of its objective
- Any act or omission that constitutes a violation of federal, state or local laws and University policy which is not otherwise covered in the Student Code of Conduct

Sanctions may also include classes, community service, referrals for appropriate counseling and/or referral to Delta State University Police Department and or local law enforcement for prosecution. If a student is convicted of violating criminal laws regarding alcohol or drugs, they may be subject to civil action. Legal sanctions may include classes, community service, fines, prison terms, loss of driving privileges, and mandated rehabilitation programs.

Legal Sanctions

As specified in Section, 37-105-9, 41-29-139, 41-29-142, and 97-29-47 of the Mississippi Code Annotated legal sanctions are applied to the following actions: possession of alcohol on University property; public drunkenness on University property; utilization of false ID to obtain alcohol; driving under the influence of alcohol; possession of illicit drugs; sale of illicit drugs; sale of illicit drugs near schools; possession of paraphernalia; and sale of paraphernalia. Sanctions range from fines of \$25 to \$1 million and jail sentences of 30 days in the county jail to 30 years in the state penitentiary.

Sanctions

Sanctions may be imposed upon employees and/or students who violate the University's alcohol and drug abuse policy as follows:

Employees

Suspension pending further investigation (with pay); satisfactory participation in a drug or alcohol abuse assistance or rehabilitation program; issuance of a formal warning; or termination. For termination, the applicable termination procedure from the Faculty and Staff Handbook will apply, based upon the status of the employee.

Students

Probation for a minimum of six months up to the remainder of their tenure, and/or a fine of up to \$100 and/or work of 10 hours up to 50 hours, and/or specified number of hours of counseling in the Counseling Center; and/or suspension for a specified period of time or with sentence suspended, expulsion from the University or one of its residential units, or any combination of the above listed sanctions or other forms of creative sanctions which might be imposed. Further disciplinary procedures can be found in the <u>Delta</u> <u>State University Student Handbook</u>.

Health Risks

Delta State University recognizes that illicit drug use and alcohol abuse are both wrong and harmful. Medical research reveals that such behavior is a causative factor in heart, liver, and gastrointestinal diseases as well as in various cancers and brain damage. The abuse of alcohol and other drugs is not only destructive to the physical health, but it also erodes the self-discipline and motivation necessary for learning. Pervasive drug use and alcohol abuse create an environment that is destructive to learning and working. Closely tied to being truant and dropping out of school, they are associated with crime and misconduct that disrupt the maintenance of an orderly and safe university atmosphere conducive to learning and working.

Counseling Programs

The University makes available to all its students and employees the services of the Health & Counseling Center. In addition to offering direct services to students and employees experiencing problems with alcohol or substance abuse, the Counseling Center provides referral services to several centers for alcohol and drug treatment and rehabilitation in the area. In addition, substance abuse programs are offered by the Health & Counseling Center, the Delta Community Mental Health Center, Delta State University Police Department, and the Cleveland City Police Department.

Employees

Delta State University is committed to protecting the safety, health, and well-being of its employees, students, and all people who come into contact with its property and facilities. The unlawful possession, purchase, manufacture, use, sale or distribution of illicit drugs and alcohol by employees on university property or at any of its activities is prohibited. DSU will impose sanctions, consistent with local, state, and federal law for violations of DSU alcohol and drug policies as stated in university policies. Disciplinary action may include corrective discipline, counseling, (faculty) reassignment, verbal warnings, documented warnings, probation, suspension with or without pay, and discharge for employees and/or referral to local law enforcement for prosecution.

If an employee is convicted of violating criminal laws concerning alcohol or drugs, in addition to civil action, the employee may be subject to termination. Legal sanctions may include classes, community service, fines, prison terms, loss of driving privileges, and mandated rehabilitation programs. In addition, failure to disclose previous convictions on a job application is grounds for termination.

DSU supports the laws and regulations of the United States of America, the State of Mississippi, Bolivar County, and the City of Cleveland as well as the counties and cities in which our outreach sites are located. Each student and employee is expected to do the same. Applicable legal sanctions under state, local, and federal law can include: forfeiture of personal property and real estate, fines, revocation of driver's license, probation, parole, imprisonment, mandatory minimum sentences, and deportation for non-US citizens.

Supervisors

Recognizing that drug and alcohol abuse poses a direct and substantial threat to this goal, the University reserves the right to test potential employees and/or current employees for alcohol and/or controlled substances pursuant to the Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy. Delta State University Human Resources Department has developed a form to report reasonable suspicion for drug testing when an employee is identified by his/her immediate supervisor as showing suspicious behavior.

Exception

An employee who uses a drug authorized by a licensed physician through a prescription specifically for that employee's use shall not be considered to have violated this policy.

Disciplinary Responsibility for Employees

The Office of Human Resources is the primary source on campus for enforcement of drug and alcohol policies pertaining to employees. Delta State University prohibits the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance, illicit drug, and alcohol, as those terms are defined in state and federal law, in the workplace, on University premises, or as part of any of the University's activities.

Employees who violate this prohibition shall be subject to disciplinary sanctions. Such sanctions may include referral to drug and alcohol counseling or rehabilitation programs or termination from employment and referral to appropriate law enforcement officials for prosecution.

Notification of Convictions

Any faculty or staff member who has been convicted of a criminal drug statute violation occurring in the workplace must notify his/her immediate supervisor no later than five (5) days after the conviction.

- 1. Upon notification of such a conviction, the University will initiate appropriate personnel action within thirty (30) days of such notification.
- 2. Upon notification of such a conviction, the University is required by law to notify the applicable funding agency(s) within ten (10) days if the faculty or staff member is working in a position that is funded by federal monies.

Sanctions

- Depending upon the facts relating to any drug conviction or use, the employee may be: suspended pending further investigation; required to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program; issued a formal warning; or terminated. For disciplinary actions, up to and including termination, the applicable procedure will apply, based upon the status of the employee (i.e. faculty/staff, within 90-Day Review period/outside 90-Day Review period, temporary/permanent, level of responsibility, etc.). Any action will be initiated within thirty (30) days after the facts have become known by the University.
- 2. If a faculty or staff member fails to notify his/her immediate supervisor of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace within five (5) days after such conviction, he/she will be suspended pending investigation with termination possible.
- 3. For purposes of this policy, "conviction" means a finding of guilt (including a plea of nolo contendere) or imposition of sentence, or both, by any judicial body charged with the responsibility to determine violations of the federal or state criminal drug statutes.

It's the Law

Numerous federal, state, and local laws provide for a variety of legal sanctions and penalties for the unlawful possession or distribution of illicit drugs and alcohol. These sanctions include, but are not limited to, incarceration and monetary fines. State laws and local ordinances also prohibit illicit drugs and alcohol. Copies of university policies and regulations are available online in the Delta State University Policy Manual at <u>www.deltastate.edu/policies/policy/university-policies</u>.

Health Risks

The use, misuse, and abuse of alcohol and other drugs, both legal and illegal, can have serious consequences to health and well-being. Alcohol and other drug use can lead to psychological and/or physiological dependence and addiction. Information on specific health risks associated with alcohol and other drugs is summarized below and is available in more detail at the Health & Counseling Center.

Interaction between various drugs, legal and illegal, may have serious consequences to the user. Various combinations of drugs may work at cross purposes within the body, and the combined effects of two or more drugs may be more potent than the effect of a single drug.

If an overdose is suspected, contact 911 immediately.

<u>Alcohol</u> is a central nervous system depressant that can impair coordination, inhibitions, self-control, memory, judgment, and reflexes. Large quantities may produce staggering, slurred speech, mood changes, unconsciousness and possibly death. Prolonged use can damage many organs of the body including the heart, liver, stomach, and pancreas.

<u>Marijuana</u> can increase heart rate, interfere with sexual development, may cause a reduction in male fertility and disrupt the female menstrual cycle. It can increase the risk of disease/damage to the body's respiratory system, impair eye-hand coordination and other essential functions needed to operate a motor vehicle safely. It can also impair the body's immune system.

<u>Opioids</u> are a highly addictive class of drugs found naturally in the opium poppy plant. These drugs act as depressants on the central nervous system to relieve pain, and they lower heart rate, pulse, and breathing of the user.

<u>Fentanyl</u> is a potent synthetic opioid approved by the FDA as a pain relief drug and anesthetic. It is 100X more potent than morphine and 50X more potent than heroin. Side effects include drowsiness, nausea, confusion, unconsciousness, hypoxia, and death. This drug is found in counterfeit pills that mimic pharmaceutical pills such as oxycodone. Fentanyl is the cause of many accidental overdoses and was attributed to death every 15 minutes in 2021.

<u>Cocaine</u> can cause feelings of depression, inability, impatience and pessimism. It can also cause severe weight loss, anxiety, hallucinations, increased heart rate and blood pressure. Cocaine has caused death by convulsion, failure of the respiratory system, and by heart attack.

<u>Over-the-counter and prescription drugs</u> can also cause drug tolerance, dependence, and addiction. The potential for misuse and abuse is increased with these drugs as they are easily obtainable, safe as far

as ingredients and manufacturing, and the user may tend not to follow specific instructions for dosage and frequency. Many legal drugs also have a long shelf life leading to their use after they are no longer needed or for self-medication without medical supervision.

<u>Club drugs</u> such as MDMA (Ecstasy), GHB, LSD, Rohypnol, Ketamine and Methamphetamine can cause serious health problems and possibly death. Many of these drugs are tasteless and odorless. The chemicals, drug sources and pharmacological agents used to manufacture these drugs often vary, making it difficult to determine all of the effects, symptoms and health risks associated with club drugs. Confusion, depression, impaired motor function, amnesia, psychotic behavior, cardiac failure and permanent neurological and organ damage are some known effects associated with the use of these drugs.

Programs & Education

Employees

- <u>Substance abuse needs</u> are covered by the State of Mississippi Health Insurance Plan. Employees pay only their plan's deductible, co-insurance, or co-pay for all treatment services.
- <u>Leaves of absence</u>: Delta State University offers paid/unpaid leave covered under the Family and Medical Act and those not covered by the Act. Employees may work with DSU's Human Resource Department to request a leave to participate in treatment. The reason for the leave is confidential. Leave may be full, meaning the employee is entirely absent from work, or the employee may take intermittent leave of absence. Leave is coordinated through and documented by the employee's treatment provider.

Students

The University provides information on drug and alcohol treatment and prevention through a variety of means including: seminars, courses, trainings, programming and the Health & Counseling Center.

Campus Based Programs and Resources

- Mental Health Counseling
- One-on-one Counseling
- Recovery Support Groups
- Expert small group therapy with emphasis on addiction
- Campus Counseling Center Referrals
- Campus Programming
- Crisis Counseling
- Online Training Program for Drug & Alcohol Abuse
- Health Fairs
- Referrals to Community-Based Substance Abuse and Treatment Services

Treatment Resources

Resource	Description	Contact		
Alcoholics Anonymous	A.A. has been helping alcoholics recover 400 North Sha			
www.aa-mississippi.org	for more than 80 years. A.A.'s program	Cleveland, MS 38732		
	of recovery is built on the simple			
	foundation of one alcoholic sharing with			
	another.			
Delta State University Health &	Counseling staff available by	O.W. Reily Health		
Counseling Center	appointment or on emergency basis to	Center		
www.deltastate.edu/students/health-	assist enrolled Delta State University			
<u>counseling-services</u>	students with alcohol & other drug			
662.846.4690	related issues.			
Image Behavioral Health	Imagine is dedicated to providing quality	1920 Dunbarton Drive		
www.imaginebh.com	care to those suffering from mental	Jackson, MS 39216		
601.982.5376	health, substance abuse, and dual			
	diagnosis disorders.			
Oxford Treatment Center	Offers a range of therapy options from	297 County Road 244		
www.oxfordtreatment.com	medical detox through inpatient or	Etta, MS 38627		
662.635.8289	outpatient treatment			
Precise Neuroscience Specialist	Provides comprehensive mental health	3531 Lakeland Drive		
www.precise-mind.com	treatment, working with you to find the	Suite 1060		
601.420.5810	treatments to help you move toward a	Flowood, MS 39232		
	healthier and more satisfying life.			
SAMHSA's National Helpline	SAMHSA's National Helpline is a free,	5600 Fishers Lane		
www.samhsa.gov	confidential, 24/7, 365-day-a-year	Rockville, MD 20857		
1-800-662-HELP (4357)	treatment referral and information			
	service (in English and Spanish) for			
	individuals and families facing mental			
	and/or substance use disorders.			

For more locations on Alcohol and Substance Abuse Services within the state of Mississippi, visit <u>www.nationalsubstanceabuseindex.org/mississippi/facilities.php</u>

Hotline Numbers

Alcohol Abuse and Crisis Intervention	1-800-234-0246
Alcohol and Drug Abuse	1-800-729-6686
Alcohol and Drug Abuse Helpline and Treatment	1-800-234-0420
Alcohol Hotline Support & Information	1-800-331-2900
American Council of Alcoholism	1-800-527-5344
National Cocaine Hotline	1-800-262-2463
Referral and Drug Information	1-800-662-4435
The Alcohol & Drug Addiction Resource Center	1-800-390-4056

Campus Data

Listed below is a summary of the number of drug and liquor/alcohol related arrests or disciplinary actions taken during the given calendar years, where actions were taken by University Police Department or via adjudication and sanctions imposed by the Vice President for Student Affairs or their designee. Data reported here reflects five (5) years of data.

Arrests: On-Campus

	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Drug Law Violations	2	0	0	0	0
Liquor/Alcohol Law Violations	0	0	0	0	0

Arrests: On-Campus Residence Halls

	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Drug Law Violations	0	0	0	0	0
Liquor/Alcohol Law Violations	0	0	0	0	0

Disciplinary Actions: On-Campus

	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Drug Law Violations	0	0	0	2	0
Liquor/Alcohol Law Violations	10	0	0	0	0

Disciplinary Actions: On-Campus Residence Halls

	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Drug Law Violations	11	6	0	2	0
Liquor/Alcohol Law Violations	0	3	0	0	0

Crime Awareness

Crime statistics are provided as part of Delta State University commitment to safety and security on campus and complies with the Jeanne Clery Disclosure of Campus Security Policy and Campus Crime Statistics Act. This information is found on our Delta State University Police Department web site at www.deltastate.edu/students/police/campus-safety.